
 

 

No. 22-7466 
 

IN THE 

Supreme Court of the United States 
 

RICHARD EUGENE GLOSSIP, 
Petitioner, 

v. 

OKLAHOMA, 
Respondent. 

 
ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE 

OKLAHOMA COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS 
 

BRIEF FOR PETITIONER 

 

DONALD R. KNIGHT 
7852 S. Elati Street 
    Suite 205 
Littleton, CO 80120 
 
AMY P. KNIGHT 
JOHN R. MILLS 
JOSEPH J. PERKOVICH 
PHILLIPS BLACK, INC. 
1721 Broadway, Suite 201 
Oakland, CA 94612 
 
JUAN M. RUIZ TORO 
DYLAN S. REICHMAN 
WILMER CUTLER PICKERING 
    HALE AND DORR LLP 
7 World Trade Center 
250 Greenwich Street 
New York, NY 10007 

SETH P. WAXMAN 
    Counsel of Record 
CATHERINE M.A. CARROLL 

JULIA M. MAY  
WILMER CUTLER PICKERING 
    HALE AND DORR LLP 
2100 Pennsylvania Ave., NW 
Washington, DC 20037 
(202) 663-6000 
seth.waxman@wilmerhale.com 
 
ZAKI ANWAR 
WILMER CUTLER PICKERING 
    HALE AND DORR LLP 
60 State Street 
Boston, MA 02109 

 



 

(i) 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED* 

1. a. Whether, as the State concedes, the State’s 
suppression of a witness’s admission that he was under 
the care of a psychiatrist and failure to correct that wit-
ness’s false testimony about his treatment and diagnosis 
violate the due process of law.  See Brady v. Maryland, 
373 U.S. 83 (1963); Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959). 

b. Whether the entirety of suppressed evi-
dence must be considered when assessing the material-
ity of Brady and Napue claims.  See Kyles v. Whitley, 
514 U.S. 419 (1995). 

2. Whether the Oklahoma Court of Criminal Ap-
peals’ holding that the Oklahoma Post-Conviction Proce-
dure Act precluded post-conviction relief is an adequate 
and independent state-law ground for the judgment. 

 

 
* While the State’s confession of error confirms Glossip’s enti-

tlement to relief on the below-stated questions, Glossip no longer 
presses a standalone claim under Escobar v. Texas, 143 S. Ct. 557 
(2023) (mem.); Pet. i. 
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INTRODUCTION 

In January 1997, Justin Sneed murdered Barry Van 
Treese.  Nobody has ever disputed that Sneed, not peti-
tioner Richard Glossip, was the killer.  But after being 
coached throughout his interrogation, Sneed agreed 
with detectives that Glossip planned the crime.  Sneed 
pleaded guilty and agreed to testify against Glossip to 
avoid capital punishment.  His testimony is the only di-
rect evidence implicating Glossip in the murder.  As the 
State concedes, “Sneed was the State’s indispensable 
witness,” and “Glossip’s fate turned on Sneed’s credibil-
ity, which hung by a thread.”  State Br. Supp. Cert. 18. 

In January 2023—nearly 20 years after Glossip’s 
conviction—the State disclosed files showing that pros-
ecutors knew, yet failed to disclose, that Sneed was seen 
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after his arrest by a psychiatrist who prescribed him 
lithium.  As it turned out, Sneed—a known methamphet-
amine addict—also suffered from untreated bipolar dis-
order.  That combination of conditions would have cast 
doubt on Sneed’s perception and memory of the murder 
and supported the alternative theory that Sneed com-
mitted the murder impulsively without Glossip’s in-
volvement.  But the State failed to disclose that infor-
mation to the defense.  What is more, the State allowed 
Sneed to testify falsely at Glossip’s trial that he had 
never seen a psychiatrist.  The newly disclosed evidence 
confirms that the State knew Sneed’s testimony was 
false and did nothing to correct it.      

The new evidence of Sneed’s psychiatric treatment 
and the State’s knowledge of it establishes that Glossip’s 
conviction was obtained in violation of Napue v. Illinois, 
360 U.S. 264 (1959), and Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 
(1963).  Those violations alone undermine confidence in 
the verdict.  Their materiality is heightened by the “net 
effect[s]” of other exculpatory evidence that was simi-
larly disclosed for the first time in August 2022 and Jan-
uary 2023.  Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 437 (1995).  
That evidence includes notes showing that the lead pros-
ecutor coordinated with Sneed’s attorney to alter 
Sneed’s testimony to better align with forensic evidence 
and then lied to the trial court to avoid a mistrial by 
denying any advance knowledge that Sneed would 
change his story.  It also includes suppressed evidence 
supporting an innocent explanation for the cash Glossip 
was carrying at the time of his arrest, which the State 
relied on to support its murder-for-remuneration theory. 

Even before these violations came to light, concerns 
about the integrity of Glossip’s conviction had mounted 
to the point that an independent investigation commis-
sioned by Oklahoma legislators concluded the conviction 
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should be set aside.  A second independent investigation 
commissioned by the Attorney General reached the 
same conclusion.  Each investigation found that Glossip’s 
prosecution had been riddled with misconduct, errors, 
and omissions from the start—from a deficient police in-
vestigation to the destruction of critical physical evi-
dence to the suppression of substantial exculpatory evi-
dence. 

Oklahoma’s Attorney General now agrees in the face 
of Sneed’s false testimony and other errors that Glos-
sip’s conviction must be overturned.  Remarkably, de-
spite that concession, the Oklahoma Court of Criminal 
Appeals (“OCCA”) refused to vacate Glossip’s convic-
tion and death sentence, ruling that the prosecutorial 
misconduct in this case neither “rise[s] to the level of a 
Brady violation” nor “create[s] a Napue error.”  JA989-
992. 

The prosecutor’s interest “in a criminal prosecution 
is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be 
done.”  Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935).  It 
is therefore “as much his duty to refrain from improper 
methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction as 
it is to use every legitimate means to bring about a just 
one.”  Id.  Prosecutors may “strike hard blows,” but they 
are “not at liberty to strike foul ones.”  Id.   

The prosecution of Richard Glossip was rife with 
foul blows.  A conviction obtained by such misconduct 
cannot stand.  The OCCA erred in concluding otherwise, 
and Glossip is entitled to a new trial.  

OPINION BELOW 

The OCCA’s decision denying Glossip’s application 
for post-conviction relief is reported at 529 P.3d 218.  
JA980.   
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JURISDICTION 

The OCCA entered judgment on April 20, 2023.  
Glossip timely filed a petition for a writ of certiorari on 
May 4, 2023.  This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 
§1257(a); see infra Part III.   

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment, U.S. Const. amend. XIV, §1, provides:  

No state shall … deprive any person of life, lib-
erty, or property, without due process of law …. 

Oklahoma’s Post-Conviction Procedure Act, Okla. 
Stat. tit. 22, §1089(D)(8)(b), provides in relevant part: 

[I]f a subsequent application for post-conviction 
relief is filed after filing an original application, 
the Court of Criminal Appeals may not consider 
the merits of or grant relief based on … a subse-
quent application, unless: 

b. (1) the application contains sufficient specific 
facts establishing that the current claims and is-
sues have not and could not have been presented 
previously in a timely original application or in a 
previously considered application filed under 
this section, because the factual basis for the 
claim was unavailable as it was not ascertainable 
through the exercise of reasonable diligence on 
or before that date, and 

(2) the facts underlying the claim, if proven and 
viewed in light of the evidence as a whole, would 
be sufficient to establish by clear and convincing 
evidence that, but for the alleged error, no rea-
sonable fact finder would have found the 
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applicant guilty of the underlying offense or 
would have rendered the penalty of death. 

STATEMENT 

A. Glossip’s Prosecutions 

In the early morning of January 7, 1997, metham-
phetamine addict Justin Sneed murdered Barry Van 
Treese with a baseball bat at the Best Budget Inn in Ok-
lahoma City, a motel Van Treese owned where Sneed 
and Glossip worked.  JA982-983.  Sneed eluded police for 
a week.  JA498.  Glossip spoke to police voluntarily on 
the day of the murder and again after he was detained 
the next day, admitting that he took actions after Van 
Treese was killed that helped Sneed after the fact.  JA22.  
But Glossip consistently denied knowing Sneed planned 
to kill Van Treese or that he in any way encouraged 
Sneed to do so.  Id. 

Sneed was later arrested and interrogated.  Despite 
Glossip’s denials, detectives immediately steered him to-
ward Glossip.  Ignoring Sneed’s initial attempts to cast 
blame elsewhere, the detectives brought up Glossip’s 
name six times within the first 20 minutes of the inter-
rogation.  JA648-656.  They told Sneed that Glossip was 
blaming him but suggested repeatedly that in fact it was 
Glossip who had planned the crime.  JA654-660.  Even-
tually, Sneed admitted to killing Van Treese and agreed 
that Glossip had directed him to do so.  JA660.  Sneed 
pleaded guilty to first-degree murder and agreed to tes-
tify against Glossip in exchange for the State declining 
to pursue the death penalty.  JA982.   

Glossip was first tried for capital murder in 1998.  
The State contended Glossip directed Sneed to kill Van 
Treese because Glossip feared Van Treese was about to 
fire him.  Sneed was the State’s “star witness,” and his 
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testimony was the only direct evidence connecting Glos-
sip to the murder.  JA23-30.  As the OCCA later ex-
plained, “[n]o forensic evidence linked [Glossip] to mur-
der,” and the evidence supporting Sneed’s testimony 
was “extremely weak.”  JA23.  Glossip was nonetheless 
convicted and sentenced to death.  JA20-21.   

The OCCA reversed.  JA22.  The court found that 
Glossip had received constitutionally ineffective assis-
tance of counsel in numerous respects.  JA26-32.  Chief 
among them was counsel’s failure to impeach Sneed or 
the lead detective with the videotape of Sneed’s interro-
gation—a “glaring deficiency” given the many “obvi-
ously material” inconsistencies in Sneed’s account.  
JA27-28.    

Glossip was retried in 2004.  This time, the State em-
phasized a murder-for-remuneration theory, contending 
Glossip directed Sneed to murder Van Treese so they 
could rob him and split the proceeds.  JA495-497.  
Sneed’s testimony was again the only direct evidence 
linking Glossip to the murder.  See Order 1, Glossip v. 
Sirmons, No. 5:08‐cv‐00326‐HE (W.D. Okla., Sept. 29, 
2010), ECF No. 66.  To establish murder-for remunera-
tion—the only charged death-penalty aggravator—the 
prosecution presented evidence that Glossip was carry-
ing $1,757 when he was arrested, which the State 
claimed was stolen from Van Treese.  JA291, 493.  Glos-
sip was convicted and sentenced to death.  JA493. 

From the start, Glossip’s conviction was infected by 
misconduct and error.  Police conducted only a cursory 
investigation—failing, for example, to search Sneed’s 
room at the motel or to question most of the motel guests 
and releasing critical evidence just days after the mur-
der.  Reed Smith LLP, Independent Investigation of 
State v. Richard E. Glossip: Final Report 39, 85-86, 105 
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(June 7, 2022) (“Reed Smith First Report”).1  Between 
trials, the State destroyed critical evidence, including fi-
nancial records that could have refuted the murder-for-
renumeration theory.  Id. at 44-48, 58.     

Based on these and other errors and omissions—and 
Glossip’s steadfast assertions of innocence—concerns 
about the integrity of Glossip’s conviction grew.  In June 
2021, an ad hoc committee of the Oklahoma legislature 
engaged Reed Smith LLP to investigate the reliability 
of Glossip’s conviction.  Reed Smith First Report 2.  In 
June 2022, Reed Smith issued a 259-page report finding 
“grave doubt as to the integrity of Glossip’s murder con-
viction and death sentence.”  Id. at 6.  Among other ba-
ses, Reed Smith’s determination rested on the State’s 
“deliberate” destruction of “key physical evidence” be-
fore Glossip’s second trial; detectives’ “[i]ntentional con-
tamination” of Sneed’s interrogation, which the jury 
never saw; the “deficient and curtailed police investiga-
tion”; and the discovery of new evidence that “directly 
undermine[d] the State’s theory of the case.”  Id. at 7-11.   

In January 2023, the Oklahoma Attorney General 
commissioned his own independent investigation, led by 
former District Attorney Rex Duncan.  That investiga-
tion found that “Glossip was deprived of a fair trial”; that 
the “cumulative effect of errors, omissions, lost evi-
dence, and possible misconduct cannot be underesti-
mated”; and that “a new trial is necessary to restore in-
tegrity to the process.”  Duncan, Independent Counsel 
Report in the Matter of Richard Eugene Glossip, 

 
1 Reed Smith’s reports are available at https://tinyurl.com/

3kapbx6v. 



8 

 

Oklahoma County Case CF-1997-244, at 3-4, 19 (Apr. 3, 
2023).2  

B. Disclosure Of Exculpatory Evidence 

The petition now before this Court raises errors un-
der Napue and Brady that came to light when the State, 
facing mounting pressure, finally disclosed critical excul-
patory evidence it had suppressed for nearly 20 years.  
In August 2022, the State disclosed seven boxes of doc-
uments from the prosecutor’s files, withholding materi-
als it deemed “work product” in an eighth box.  The 
seven boxes contained exculpatory evidence the defense 
had never seen despite repeated requests.  See, e.g., 
JA40-41, 783.  In January 2023, the State disclosed the 
contents of “Box 8,” which likewise contained exculpa-
tory evidence.   

As relevant to the questions presented, the newly 
disclosed material included three categories of evidence.  
First, notes taken by lead prosecutor Connie Pope 
Smothermon (disclosed in Box 8) showed that Sneed told 
her before Glossip’s second trial that he had been treated 
by a psychiatrist after his arrest who prescribed him 
lithium.  That contradicted Sneed’s testimony—which 
Smothermon failed to correct—denying he had ever re-
ceived psychiatric treatment.  Second, evidence from 
both sets of boxes revealed that Smothermon coordi-
nated with Sneed’s attorney, violating the rule of se-
questration, to get Sneed to change his testimony to 
avoid conflicts with the medical examiner’s testimony, 
aiming to fix what Smothermon deemed the State’s 

 
2 https://www.oag.ok.gov/sites/g/files/gmc766/f/documents/2023/

glossip_report_4.3.2023_redacted.pdf. 
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“biggest problem” at trial.3  When Sneed then changed 
his testimony, Smothermon falsely denied any advance 
knowledge of it to avoid a mistrial.  Third, while the 
State claimed at trial that the cash Glossip was carrying 
when he was arrested had been stolen from Van Treese, 
Box 8 contained evidence suggesting that a witness had 
told the State that a large portion of the money came 
from Glossip’s sale of various possessions. 

1. Sneed’s psychiatric treatment 

During Glossip’s retrial, Smothermon asked Sneed 
whether he had been prescribed any medication.  In re-
sponse, Sneed testified: 

When I was arrested I asked for some Sudafed 
because I had a cold, but then shortly after that 
somehow they ended up giving me Lithium for 
some reason, I don’t know why.  I never seen no 
psychiatrist or anything.   

JA312-313.  Smothermon then asked, “So you don’t know 
why they gave you that?”  Sneed confirmed, “No,” and 
Smothermon moved on.  JA313.  Box 8 contained evi-
dence showing this testimony was false and Smother-
mon knew it. 

Specifically, Box 8 included notes Smothermon took 
during an interview with Sneed before the retrial.  
JA927, 929.  The notes reflect that, during that inter-
view, Sneed told Smothermon he had been “on lithium” 
and under the care of a “Dr. Trumpet.”  JA927, 929.  As 
Glossip’s counsel easily confirmed after reviewing the 

 
3 Oklahoma’s sequestration rule, Okla. Stat. tit. 12, §2615, re-

quires courts to prevent witnesses from altering their testimony 
based on that of other witnesses.  Bosse v. State, 400 P.3d 834, 853 
(Okla. Crim. App. 2017).  Glossip invoked the rule at the start of 
trial.  JA45. 
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notes, “Dr. Trumpet” meant Dr. Lawrence Trombka, the 
psychiatrist at the Oklahoma County Jail in 1997-1998, 
where Sneed was held after the murder.  After review-
ing Sneed’s medical records, Dr. Trombka attested that 
he “was the only medical health professional” at the jail 
who would have prescribed Sneed lithium.  JA931, Supp. 
JA 1003.   

Years earlier, Glossip had requested access to 
Sneed’s medical records, but the State opposed, and the 
OCCA denied his request.  JA621-622, 632.  And alt-
hough records from Sneed’s competency proceedings in-
dicated that he had taken lithium, those records did not 
report that Sneed had been treated for any psychiatric 
condition (because Sneed denied it at his competency ex-
amination).  JA700.  The disclosure of Box 8 in January 
2023 was thus the first time the defense learned of 
Sneed’s treatment by a psychiatrist.  Further investiga-
tion, enabled by the new disclosures, revealed that 
Sneed had been diagnosed with bipolar disorder before 
the 1998 trial.  JA933, 975, Supp. JA 1005; Reed Smith 
LLP, Independent Investigation of State v. Richard E. 
Glossip, Fifth Supplemental Report 8 (Mar. 27, 2023) 
(“Reed Smith 5th Supp.”).   

Smothermon’s notes showed that Sneed lied when 
he testified that he had never seen a psychiatrist and re-
ceived lithium for a cold and that Smothermon knew his 
testimony was false but allowed his lies to stand uncor-
rected. 

Doing so avoided damaging Sneed’s credibility in 
two ways.  First, Sneed’s treatment with lithium by a 
psychiatrist showed that he suffered from a serious men-
tal-health disorder, later revealed to be bipolar disorder.  
There is no evidence Sneed had ever received treatment 
for that disorder before his arrest.  JA312-313.  His 
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untreated bipolar disorder, both alone and in combina-
tion with his habitual methamphetamine use, Reed 
Smith First Report 217-220, rendered his perception and 
memory of the crime unreliable and supported the the-
ory that Sneed murdered Van Treese on impulse.  As Dr. 
Trombka explained in his affidavit, bipolar disorder 
symptoms “can be exacerbated by illicit drug use, such 
as methamphetamine,” which could make a user “poten-
tially violent” and “affect an individual’s perception of 
reality” and “memory recall.”  JA932, Supp. JA 1004. 

Scientific literature on bipolar disorder and meth-
amphetamine use supports Dr. Trombka’s observations.  
Untreated bipolar disorder and methamphetamine use 
both can cause defects in key areas of cognition, includ-
ing attention and memory.  Quevedo et al., Neurobiology 
of Bipolar Disorder: Road to Novel Therapeutics 85 
(2020); Healy, Methamphetamine Use and Addiction 16, 
18 (2016).  During psychostimulant-induced psychosis, 
methamphetamine users “are unable to distinguish what 
is real—they lose contact with reality.”  Healy, supra, at 
17.  And both untreated bipolar disorder and metham-
phetamine use can cause deficient impulse control.  
American Psychiatric Ass’n, Diagnostic and Statistical 
Manual of Mental Disorders 132, 136 (5th ed. 2013); 
Moallem et al., The relationship between impulsivity 
and methamphetamine use severity in a community 
sample 187 (2018).  Sneed’s methamphetamine use and 
untreated bipolar disorder thus had mutually reinforc-
ing, deleterious effects on his impulse control at the time 
of the crime and, later, his reliability as a witness.  In 
short, the revelations that Sneed, a known methamphet-
amine addict, had been prescribed lithium shortly after 
the murder by a psychiatrist for previously untreated bi-
polar disorder called into question Sneed’s whole ac-
count.   
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Second, Smothermon’s note showed that Sneed lied 
when he testified he had never seen a psychiatrist.  And 
Sneed had told that lie before.  During Sneed’s post-ar-
rest competency examination, although his lithium pre-
scription had been disclosed, Sneed “denied any psychi-
atric treatment in his history,” claiming instead he took 
the lithium “after his tooth was pulled.”  JA700.  And at 
his competency hearing before Glossip’s first trial, 
Sneed claimed the competency examination was the 
“only time [he had] ever been examined by anybody con-
cerning [his] mental health.”  JA14.  Had the State dis-
closed the “Dr. Trumpet” note and corrected Sneed’s 
false testimony, the defense could have impeached 
Sneed with these repeated lies—including his lie to the 
jury on the stand—casting serious doubt on his credibil-
ity. 

2. The knife  

The seven boxes released in August 2022 also con-
tained a memorandum Smothermon sent to Sneed’s at-
torney, Gina Walker, during Glossip’s retrial.  JA953, 
955-957.  In the memo, Smothermon detailed “a few 
items that ha[d] been testified to” that she “needed to 
discuss with Justin.”  JA955.  One item related to a bro-
ken-tipped knife found under Van Treese’s body.     

Sneed always maintained that he had bludgeoned 
Van Treese with a baseball bat.  JA8-9, 663-664, 685-686.  
But a broken-tipped knife was also found under Van 
Treese’s body, and small wounds were observed on his 
chest, back, and buttocks.  JA235-240.  At Glossip’s re-
trial, one day before Sneed was scheduled to testify, 
medical examiner Dr. Chai Choi testified on cross-exam-
ination that these small wounds were consistent with the 
broken-tipped knife—a knife Dr. Choi had never seen or 
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even been informed about until the defense presented it 
as a possible source of Van Treese’s injuries.  JA239-241.   

The inconsistency between Dr. Choi’s testimony and 
Sneed’s account of the murder posed a serious problem 
for the State.  Sneed always denied that he had stabbed 
Van Treese or that any other assailant was present who 
could have stabbed him.  JA8-9, 663-664, 685-686.  In the 
newly disclosed memo, Smothermon wrote to Walker af-
ter Dr. Choi’s testimony that the State’s “biggest prob-
lem is still the knife,” and that “we”—i.e., Smothermon 
and Walker—“should get to [Sneed] th[at] afternoon.”  
JA953, 955-957.  In handwritten notes in the margins of 
Smothermon’s typed memo, Walker recorded Sneed’s 
responses, including the statements that Sneed 
“brought knife down one time” and “in chest w/ knife.”  
JA953, 956.4   

The next day, for the first time in the seven years 
since the murder, Sneed testified that he had attempted 
to stab Van Treese in the chest with the knife.  JA319.  
The defense moved for a mistrial, arguing that the State 
had violated its discovery obligations by failing to pro-
vide notice that Sneed was going to change his testi-
mony.  JA321-323.  Smothermon responded by falsely 
denying any advance knowledge of Sneed’s about-face.  
Smothermon told the court that, after hearing Dr. Choi’s 
testimony, she called Walker, who reported back after 
talking to Sneed that he continued to deny having 
stabbed Van Treese.  JA324.  Smothermon unequivo-
cally denied knowing anything about Sneed’s shifting 

 
4 In the petition for certiorari in No. 22-6500, Glossip stated 

that the handwritten notes “appear to have been made by” 
Smothermon.  6500 Pet.18.  This was an error.  A former investiga-
tor with Walker’s office identified the handwriting as Walker’s.  
JA958-959. 
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account:  “The chest thing we’re all hearing at the same 
time.”  Id.  Upon Smothermon’s assurance, the court de-
nied the mistrial.  JA325. 

Smothermon’s mid-trial memo and Walker’s re-
sponse showed that Smothermon knew Sneed was going 
to change his story, contrary to her explicit denial.  
JA324.  And it suggested that she had coordinated with 
Walker specifically to bring about that result.  Sneed 
later told Reed Smith that he recalled “sitting with the 
District Attorney’s Office and Gina Walker in a confer-
ence room,” apparently to discuss Dr. Choi’s testimony.  
Reed Smith LLP, Independent Investigation of State v. 
Richard E. Glossip: Third Supplemental Report 19 & 
n.97 (Sept. 18, 2022).  But whether or not Smothermon 
or others met with Sneed in person to coach his testi-
mony, Smothermon went to great lengths to influence 
Sneed’s account, with no disclosure to the defense.  
Those attempts succeeded.  Sneed changed his story to 
better match Dr. Choi’s testimony that Van Treese had 
likely been stabbed with the broken knife.  JA239-241.      

Box 8, released in January 2023, contained further 
evidence of the prosecution’s concern that, absent a 
change in Sneed’s account, Dr. Choi’s testimony would 
undermine Sneed’s already-tenuous credibility.  Box 8 
contained notes passed during Dr. Choi’s cross-examina-
tion between Smothermon and her co-counsel, Gary 
Ackley, who examined Dr. Choi.  JA945, 947.  When Dr. 
Choi testified that Van Treese had multiple wounds that 
could have been caused by the knife, Smothermon wrote 
notes to Ackley suggesting that he ask whether the cuts 
could “be made by sharp furniture” or if they were 
“splits in skin from impact” and asking him to clarify 
with Dr. Choi that the “cuts ≠ knife cuts.”  JA945, 947.   
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In a later affidavit, Ackley explained that the notes 
documented the prosecution’s “concern” about Dr. 
Choi’s testimony.  JA940-941.  Ackley recalled that 
Smothermon’s suggestions were an attempt to “help 
[him] out of the quagmire” caused by Dr. Choi’s testi-
mony that the victim may have been stabbed, a version 
of events that contradicted Sneed’s account.  JA941.  
These notes shed further light on Smothermon’s inten-
tions in sending her mid-trial memo to Walker:  
Smothermon sought to help Ackley out of the “quag-
mire” by violating the rule of sequestration, coordinat-
ing with Sneed and Walker, and securing an explanation 
for the knife wounds through Sneed’s changed story.     

3. Glossip’s cash 

Also in Box 8 were notes Smothermon took during a 
pretrial interview with motel security guard Clifford 
Everhart, whose testimony supported the prosecution’s 
murder-for-remuneration theory. 

Glossip had $1,757 in cash with him when he was ar-
rested while leaving the office of a criminal defense at-
torney (whom he had not retained).  JA291-292; see also 
Reed Smith 5th Supp. 19.  The State claimed the cash 
must have come from the robbery and murder of Van 
Treese.  JA448-449.  As the OCCA recognized on direct 
appeal, “the discovery of money in Glossip’s possession” 
was “[t]he most compelling corroborative evidence.”  
JA505.  To support that theory, the State had to exclude 
other explanations for the cash.  Everhart testified that, 
on the day after the murder, Glossip had sold him and 
others some personal possessions, including a couch, big-
screen TV, vending machines, and an aquarium.  JA284-
285.  Consistent with the State’s theory, Everhart testi-
fied that he could only recall Glossip making $250-300 for 
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the vending machines and aquarium—leaving the major-
ity of Glossip’s cash unaccounted for.  JA285-286. 

Smothermon’s notes of her pretrial interview of 
Everhart included the notations “liquidated,” “big 
screen,” “900,” and “couch.”  JA949, 951-52.  This note 
suggested that when Everhart told Smothermon before 
trial what he knew about Glossip’s “liquidat[ion]” efforts 
after the murder, he referred to Glossip obtaining $900.  
This contradicted Everhart’s trial testimony.  Everhart 
testified that Glossip had received $250-300 for selling 
vending machines and an aquarium (he “really d[idn’t] 
recall” exactly), and when asked how much Glossip had 
earned for his “couch” and “big screen TV,” Everhart re-
sponded, “I really don’t know.”  JA286.  The State did 
not challenge that testimony despite the pretrial inter-
view.  Id.   

By withholding Smothermon’s notes, the State pre-
cluded the defense from impeaching Everhart with his 
prior inconsistent statements or using his testimony to 
support an innocent explanation for the cash.  And an in-
nocent explanation existed:  Glossip’s then-girlfriend, D-
Anna Wood, later attested that, after Glossip was taken 
in for questioning, the couple “beg[a]n to sell all of [thei]r 
furniture, and vending machines in order to pay [for an] 
attorney.”  JA706.  Disclosure of Everhart’s interview 
statements would have helped support that explanation 
and undermine the State’s theory.5 

 
5 The State also read to the jury a portion of Glossip’s testi-

mony from the first trial in which he listed certain items he had sold 
and for how much.  JA443-444.  The State did not read to the jury 
Glossip’s testimony that the two vending machines—which he had 
emptied of cash before selling—could earn $850-$1,500 per month.  
JA11-12.   
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C. Procedural History 

Oklahoma law requires a prisoner to file any succes-
sive application for post-conviction relief within 60 days 
after learning the basis for new claims.  Okla. R. Crim. 
App. 9.7(G)(3).  Accordingly, because the State withheld 
Box 8 for more than four months after disclosing Boxes 
1-7, Glossip had to split his newly discovered claims into 
multiple successive applications.   

On September 22, 2022, Glossip filed a successive ap-
plication based on the evidence disclosed in Boxes 1-7 
and other evidence Reed Smith had uncovered.  JA785.  
Among other claims, Glossip alleged a Brady violation 
based on the suppression of Smothermon’s memo to 
Walker about the knife.  JA842-845.  Glossip relatedly 
argued that Smothermon had prejudiced the defense by 
violating the rule of sequestration to coordinate with 
Walker about aligning Sneed’s testimony with Dr. 
Choi’s.  JA857-860.   

On November 17, 2022, the OCCA denied Glossip’s 
application.  Although the knife-related matters had not 
been disclosed until 2022, the court stated that the “fact 
that the prosecution talked to Sneed or his attorney 
about other testimony during the trial is not new evi-
dence” and there was “nothing new in this claim that 
could not have been raised earlier.”  JA780.  Glossip 
sought this Court’s review.  That petition (No. 22-6500) 
remains pending.   

On March 27, 2023, after the State released Box 8, 
Glossip filed another application.  JA883.  Armed with 
the additional material, he asserted Napue and Brady 
violations based on the “Dr. Trumpet” note revealing 
Sneed’s psychiatric treatment, as well as additional 
Brady claims based on the Ackley-Smothermon trial 
notes about the knife testimony and Smothermon’s notes 
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from Everhart’s interview.  JA902-923.  Citing Kyles v. 
Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 436 (1995), Glossip argued that the 
court should consider “the ‘net effect’ of the entirety of 
the suppressed evidence.”  JA900-901.  Glossip also 
raised a claim of factual innocence based on separately 
discovered evidence indicating that Sneed, likely accom-
panied by a female accomplice, had killed Van Treese on 
impulse in a methamphetamine-fueled robbery gone 
wrong, with no involvement by Glossip.  See JA911, 963-
966.   

In response to this last application, the State con-
fessed error.  JA973-979.  Citing the prosecutor’s over-
riding interest that “‘justice shall be done,’” JA973, the 
State conceded that Glossip’s conviction should be set 
aside under Napue and the case remanded for a new trial 
because Sneed “made material misstatements to the 
jury regarding his psychiatric treatment and the reason 
for his lithium prescription.”  JA974.  Although the State 
had previously opposed relief for Glossip, it explained 
that it had “changed its position based on a careful re-
view of the new information that ha[d] come to light,” 
which “establish[ed] that Glossip’s trial was unfair and 
unreliable.”  JA978-979. 

D. Decision Below 

The OCCA denied Glossip’s application.  JA980.  The 
court first noted that its review was limited by the Ok-
lahoma Post-Conviction Procedure Act.  As relevant, 
that statute precludes relief on a successive post-convic-
tion application unless (1) the claims could not have been 
presented previously because the factual basis was una-
vailable through the exercise of reasonable diligence, 
and (2) the facts, if proven, would establish by clear and 
convincing evidence that, but for the alleged error, no 
reasonable factfinder would have found the applicant 
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guilty or rendered a penalty of death.  Okla. Stat. tit. 22, 
§1089(D)(8)(b). 

Regarding the new evidence of Sneed’s psychiatric 
treatment, the court stated that, “[e]ven if this claim 
overcomes procedural bar, the facts do not rise to the 
level of a Brady violation.”  JA989.  The court said this 
issue “could have been presented previously” and that 
“the facts [we]re not sufficient to establish by clear and 
convincing evidence that, but for the alleged error, no 
reasonable fact finder would have found [Glossip] 
guilty.”  JA990.  This was so, the court asserted, because 
the prosecution had not hidden exculpatory information.  
Id.  Sneed’s competency examination had “noted Sneed’s 
lithium prescription” (though not his psychiatric treat-
ment or condition), so defense counsel already “knew or 
should have known about Sneed’s mental health issues.”  
JA991.  The court speculated that the defense feared 
that the evidence might have shown Sneed “was men-
tally vulnerable to Glossip’s manipulation and control.”  
Id.  And although the State did not disclose the “Dr. 
Trumpet” notes until 2023—and had successfully op-
posed a discovery request for Sneed’s mental-health rec-
ords, supra pp. 9-10—the court stated that “this issue 
could have been and should have been raised, with rea-
sonable diligence, much earlier.”  JA991.   

The court next stated that the new evidence “more-
over[] does not create a Napue error” because “[d]efense 
counsel was aware or should have been aware that 
Sneed was taking lithium at the time of trial.”  JA991.  
“This fact,” accordingly, “was not knowingly concealed 
by the prosecution.”  Id.  The court further concluded 
that because “Sneed was more than likely in denial of his 
mental health disorders,” his trial testimony was “not 
clearly false.”  Id. 
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The court finally stated that the mental-health evi-
dence “is not material under the law” because it “does 
not create a reasonable probability that the result of the 
proceeding would have been different had Sneed’s testi-
mony regarding his use of lithium been further devel-
oped at trial.”  JA991-992.  In reaching that conclusion, 
the court focused on the evidence of psychiatric treat-
ment in isolation without considering the entirety of the 
suppressed evidence.  Id.   

The court rebuffed the State’s confession of error, 
stating that it “c[ould] not overcome the limits on suc-
cessive post-conviction review” and was “not based in 
law or fact.”  JA990.   

The court separately considered and rejected Glos-
sip’s Brady claim based on Smothermon’s notes from her 
interview with Everhart.  Supra pp. 15-16.  The court 
concluded that the notes did not “clearly have an amount 
of money,” so there was “no factual basis” for Glossip’s 
claim.  JA993.  Moreover, the court stated, Glossip “ha[d] 
not shown that this information is material.”  Id.   

Finally, as to the additional evidence from Box 8 
about the knife testimony, the court concluded that the 
claim was “substantially the same” as that presented af-
ter the disclosure of Boxes 1-7 and thus could not be con-
sidered despite the new information.  JA994. 

Glossip applied to this Court for a stay of execution 
and filed a petition for a writ of certiorari seeking review 
of his Napue and Brady claims based on Sneed’s psychi-
atric treatment.  Pet. i, 7-8, 15-18.  The petition addition-
ally argued that those claims should be evaluated in light 
of the entirety of the suppressed evidence, Pet. i, 18-19, 
including the evidence relating to the knife, Pet. 7, 10, 
18-19, and Smothermon’s notes from the Everhart inter-
view, Pet. 11.  This Court entered a stay of execution and 
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granted review.  In addition to the questions presented, 
the Court directed the parties to address whether the 
OCCA’s judgment rested on an adequate and independ-
ent state-law ground.     

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Evidence disclosed in Box 8 revealed for the first 
time that prosecutors knew their star witness—the un-
disputed murderer—had received psychiatric treatment 
and testified falsely when he denied it.  Prosecutors 
failed to disclose this exculpatory information before 
trial, in conceded violation of Brady v. Maryland, 373 
U.S. 83 (1963), and failed to correct Sneed’s false testi-
mony, in conceded violation of Napue v. Illinois, 360 
U.S. 264 (1959).  Glossip is therefore entitled to a new 
trial. 

I.  In Napue, this Court held that the State “may not 
knowingly use false evidence, including false testimony, 
to obtain a tainted conviction.”  360 U.S. at 269.  Under 
the Due Process Clause, a prosecutor has “the responsi-
bility and duty to correct what he knows to be false.”  Id. 
at 269-270.  A conviction obtained through the knowing 
use of false testimony must be set aside if there is “any 
reasonable likelihood” that the false testimony “could 
have affected the judgment of the jury.”  Id. at 271.   

At Glossip’s trial, Sneed lied about his history of psy-
chiatric treatment.  When Smothermon asked whether 
he had been “placed on any type of prescription medica-
tion” after his arrest, Sneed testified:  “When I was ar-
rested I asked for some Sudafed because I had a cold, but 
then shortly after that somehow they ended up giving 
me Lithium for some reason, I don’t know why.  I never 
seen no psychiatrist or anything.”  JA312. 
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Smothermon knew Sneed’s testimony was false.  
She knew Sneed had been prescribed lithium by Dr. 
Trombka, a psychiatrist.  Her failure to correct Sneed’s 
testimony left the jury with the impression that Sneed 
had told the truth—that he had never received psychiat-
ric care and that the lithium had been prescribed by mis-
take or for some reason unrelated to a psychiatric condi-
tion.  This was no harmless error.  The State’s entire case 
hinged on Sneed’s credibility.  Any evidence bearing on 
that credibility was crucial. 

In rejecting Glossip’s Napue claim, the OCCA com-
mitted three legal errors.  First, the court injected a re-
quirement that the witness intended to lie.  But Napue 
requires prosecutors to correct objectively false state-
ments, see 360 U.S. at 369, not just statements the wit-
ness subjectively intends to be false.  Second, the court 
reasoned that the defense could have cross-examined 
Sneed.  That was baseless.  The suppression of the “Dr. 
Trumpet” note precluded the defense from impeaching 
Sneed’s denial of psychiatric treatment.  It was also ir-
relevant.  Napue focuses on the prosecutor’s obligations, 
not defense counsel’s:  Due process requires that a con-
viction be set aside whenever “the State, although not 
soliciting false evidence, allows it to go uncorrected 
when it appears.”  Id.  Third, the OCCA failed to recog-
nize that false testimony can be material when it under-
cuts the credibility of a key witness.  Had it been cor-
rected, the false testimony here would have destroyed 
Sneed’s paper-thin credibility and, with it, the State’s 
case. 

II.  The State’s suppression of the evidence of 
Sneed’s psychiatric treatment also violated Brady.  Be-
cause “[t]he very integrity of the judicial system and 
public confidence in the system depend on full disclosure 
of all the facts, within the framework of the rules of 
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evidence,” United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683, 709 
(1974), due process requires that prosecutors disclose all 
evidence that is “favorable to an accused” and “material 
either to guilt or to punishment.”  Brady, 373 U.S. at 87.   

Here, the State withheld evidence revealing that 
Sneed had been treated by a psychiatrist who prescribed 
him lithium for a serious psychiatric condition.  The sup-
pression of that evidence was highly prejudicial.  Had 
the State disclosed the evidence, the defense could have 
impeached Sneed by calling out his repeated lies on the 
subject and by demonstrating to the jury that Sneed’s 
untreated bipolar disorder, in combination with his 
methamphetamine use, rendered his perception and 
memory of the crime highly unreliable and his commis-
sion of violence a likely product of extreme impulsivity.  
The OCCA completely disregarded the weight of that 
impeachment evidence.   

Moreover, the net effect of all the suppressed evi-
dence, considered collectively, makes clear that had the 
State fulfilled its Brady obligations, Glossip’s trial likely 
would have come out differently.  See Kyles v. Whitley, 
514 U.S. 419, 439 (1995).  The prosecution repeatedly 
suppressed evidence that would have enabled the de-
fense to impeach Sneed more effectively or undercut the 
State’s theory of the case.  That included evidence sug-
gesting that Sneed had changed his testimony about the 
knife at the prosecution’s behest and that the prosecutor 
had lied about it to avoid a mistrial.  It also included ev-
idence supporting an innocent explanation for the cash 
in Glossip’s possession at the time of his arrest.  The 
OCCA ignored that record in evaluating the materiality 
of the suppressed evidence of Sneed’s psychiatric treat-
ment, contrary to Kyles. 
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III.  There is no jurisdictional barrier to review.  
This Court will not address a federal question “if the de-
cision of the state court rests on a state law ground that 
is independent of the federal question and adequate to 
support the judgment.”  Lee v. Kemna, 534 U.S. 362, 375 
(2002).  Although the OCCA at times recited the limita-
tions of the Oklahoma Post-Conviction Procedure Act, 
its application of that Act derived directly from its mis-
understanding and misapplication of Napue and Brady 
and therefore is not an independent state-law ground.  
And to the extent the OCCA rested on the Act—even 
despite the State’s affirmative waiver and the suppres-
sion of the relevant evidence—that conclusion was a 
novel, unforeseeable, and factually baseless application 
of state law and therefore is not an adequate state-law 
ground.  This Court has jurisdiction and should hold that 
Glossip is entitled to a new trial. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE STATE’S KNOWING PRESENTATION OF FALSE TES-

TIMONY VIOLATED NAPUE 

A. This Case Presents A Straightforward Napue 
Violation 

In Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959), this Court 
recognized as “implicit in any concept of ordered liberty” 
that the State “may not knowingly use false evidence, 
including false testimony, to obtain a tainted conviction.”  
Id. at 269.  Under the Due Process Clause, a prosecutor 
has “the responsibility and duty to correct what he 
knows to be false,” and a denial of due process occurs 
when the State allows false testimony to “go uncor-
rected.”  Id. at 269-270 (citation omitted).  A conviction 
obtained through the knowing use of false testimony 
“must be set aside if there is any reasonable likelihood 
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that the false testimony could have affected the jury’s 
verdict.”  United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 679 n.9 
(1985) (citing Napue, 360 U.S. at 271); see also Giglio v. 
United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972). 

As the State agrees, this case presents a straightfor-
ward Napue violation.  The relevant facts are undis-
puted.  At Glossip’s trial, prosecutor Smothermon asked 
Sneed whether he was “placed on any type of prescrip-
tion medication” after his arrest.  JA312.  Sneed an-
swered:  “When I was arrested I asked for some Sudafed 
because I had a cold, but then shortly after that some-
how they ended up giving me Lithium for some reason, 
I don’t know why.  I never seen no psychiatrist or any-
thing.”  Id.  Smothermon then asked, “[s]o you don’t 
know why they gave you that?”  Sneed confirmed, “No.”  
JA313.  Then Smothermon moved on.  Id. 

Smothermon’s decision to let Sneed’s false testi-
mony go uncorrected violated Napue.  To prevail under 
Napue, a defendant must show: (1) falsity of the wit-
ness’s testimony; (2) the prosecutor’s knowledge that 
the testimony was false; (3) the prosecutor’s failure to 
correct that testimony; and (4) materiality.  360 U.S. at 
269-270.  All these elements are met here. 

First, Sneed’s statements were clearly false.  Supra 
pp. 9-10.  Contrary to his testimony, Sneed had been pre-
scribed lithium after his arrest by the psychiatrist at the 
Oklahoma County Jail, Dr. Trombka.  Sneed needed lith-
ium for his previously untreated bipolar disorder, see 
JA930-933, Supp. JA 1002-1005—not, as Sneed testified, 
to treat a cold.   

Second, prosecutors knew that Sneed’s testimony 
was false.  Supra pp. 9-12.  As reflected in her notes, 
Smothermon knew before the second trial that Sneed 
had been treated by a psychiatrist, Dr. Trombka, who 



26 

 

had prescribed the lithium.  She thus knew that Sneed’s 
denial of prior psychiatric treatment—and his explana-
tion for the lithium prescription—were false.  See JA927, 
929.  Smothermon, but not the defense, also had access 
to Sneed’s medical records, including records document-
ing his bipolar diagnosis.  Supra p. 10; JA621-622, 632, 
930-933, Supp. JA 1002-1005. 

Third, Smothermon allowed the false testimony to 
stand, doing nothing to correct or clarify it.  Supra pp. 9-
12.  To the contrary, she confirmed that Sneed did not 
know “why they gave” him lithium, JA313, leaving the 
jury with the misimpression that the lithium prescrip-
tion was a mistake or mere happenstance.  

Finally, Smothermon’s failure to correct Sneed’s 
false testimony was material.  A Napue violation re-
quires reversal when there is “any reasonable likeli-
hood” that the false testimony “could have affected” the 
verdict.  Bagley, 473 U.S. at 679 n.9; see Napue, 360 U.S. 
at 271.  That standard is easily satisfied here.  Had 
Smothermon corrected Sneed’s testimony, the correc-
tion would have fatally undermined his credibility in two 
ways.   

First, disclosing the truth—that Sneed’s lithium had 
been prescribed by a psychiatrist to treat a serious men-
tal-health disorder—reasonably could have led the jury 
to question Sneed’s cognition and memory recall at the 
time of the murder and at his initial interrogation, which 
formed the basis of his testimony.  See JA931-932, Supp. 
JA 1003-1004; Quevedo, Neurobiology of Bipolar Disor-
der, at 85 (recognizing that bipolar disorder can cause 
defects in attention and memory).  The jury might also 
have considered whether Sneed’s methamphetamine 
use exacerbated those effects.  See supra pp. 10-11 (de-
scribing effects of methamphetamine on impulsivity and 
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impairments in attention and memory).  Had Smother-
mon corrected Sneed’s testimony, it is reasonably likely 
the jury would have doubted his reliability as a witness.  
It would also have lent weight to the alternative theory 
that Sneed’s actions resulted from extreme impulsivity, 
not from any plan with Glossip.  Instead, Sneed’s false 
testimony gave the jury the misimpression that Sneed 
had no mental-health conditions that might have com-
promised his perception or memory or cast doubt on his 
account of the crime.  And it neutralized the evidence of 
his lithium prescription so that the defense could not use 
it to suggest otherwise.  

Second, correcting Sneed’s false testimony would 
have fed the jury’s skepticism of Sneed by revealing that 
Sneed had lied about his psychiatric condition on the 
stand—and that he had repeatedly lied during the inves-
tigation and prior competency proceedings.  False testi-
mony may be material under Napue when it bears on a 
key witness’s credibility no less than when it bears on 
the defendant’s guilt.  In Napue itself, the witness 
falsely denied having received any consideration for his 
testimony.  360 U.S. at 267.  This Court found that testi-
mony material because “[t]he jury’s estimate of the 
truthfulness and reliability of a given witness may well 
be determinative of guilt or innocence, and it is upon 
such subtle factors as the possible interest of the witness 
in testifying falsely that a defendant’s life or liberty may 
depend.”  Id. at 269.   

The same is true here.  Sneed’s word was the only 
direct evidence linking Glossip to the murder.  JA23.  
Correcting Sneed’s false testimony would have given the 
jury greater reason to question Sneed’s truthfulness.  
That is precisely the kind of impeachment information 
that “may make the difference between conviction and 
acquittal.”  Bagley, 473 U.S. at 676.  As this Court 
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recognized in Giglio, when “the Government’s case de-
pend[s] almost entirely on” the testimony of a key wit-
ness, issues regarding that witness’s credibility are es-
pecially significant.  405 U.S. at 154.  At a minimum, 
“[e]ven if the jury—armed with all of this new evi-
dence—could have voted to convict” Glossip, this Court 
cannot have “‘confidence that it would have done so.’”  
Wearry v. Cain, 577 U.S. 385, 394 (2016). 

B. The OCCA Erred In Rejecting Glossip’s Napue 
Claim 

The OCCA’s conclusion that there was no Napue vi-
olation hinged on three legal errors.  

First, in concluding that Sneed’s testimony was not 
“clearly false,” the court gave dispositive weight to its 
own speculation that Sneed might simply have been “in 
denial” of his mental-health condition and psychiatric 
treatment.  JA991.  That reasoning read into Napue a 
requirement that the witness must have intended to lie, 
ignoring that Napue is concerned not with subjective 
motivations, but with objective falsity.   

Contrary to the OCCA’s reasoning, Napue requires 
prosecutors to correct all false statements, not just false 
statements by a witness who intended to lie.  See 360 
U.S. at 369 (describing the violation as letting “false ev-
idence” go uncorrected).  This Court has long distin-
guished between falsity and intent to lie.  See Bose Corp. 
v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc., 466 U.S. 485, 511 & 
n.30 (1984) (recognizing the “significant difference be-
tween proof of actual malice and mere proof of falsity”); 
accord Hustler Mag., Inc. v. Falwell, 485 U.S. 46, 52 
(1988) (in defamation cases, requiring that public-figure 
plaintiffs “prove both that the statement was false and 
that the statement was made with the requisite level of 
culpability”).  The OCCA cited no support for its 
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conclusion that a prosecutor is absolved of any Napue 
obligation if a witness has an innocuous explanation for 
attesting to something the prosecutor knows to be false.  
For good reason, this Court has never carved out such 
an exception.  Napue’s concern is with the “corruption of 
the truth-seeking function of the trial process,” not with 
the moral shortcomings of any given witness.  United 
States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 104 (1976).  The Napue ob-
ligation would be hollow if it were triggered only when a 
prosecutor knew that a witness subjectively intended to 
lie.   

Second, the OCCA erred by scrutinizing the conduct 
of defense counsel, when Napue instead focuses on the 
conduct of the prosecutor.  The OCCA rejected Glossip’s 
Napue claim because “[d]efense counsel was aware or 
should have been aware that Sneed was taking lithium 
at the time of trial” and ostensibly could have corrected 
Sneed’s testimony themselves.  JA991.  But in Napue, 
this Court stated the rule without equivocation:  A con-
viction cannot stand under the Fourteenth Amendment 
“when the State, although not soliciting false evidence, 
allows it to go uncorrected when it appears.”  Napue, 360 
U.S. at 269 (emphasis added); see also Bagley, 473 U.S. 
at 680 n.8 (Napue violation lies in the prosecution’s 
“knowing use of false testimony to obtain a conviction”).  
This obligation—part of a prosecutor’s overarching duty 
“to refrain from improper methods calculated to produce 
a wrongful conviction”—“plainly rest[s] upon the prose-
cuting attorney.”  Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 
88 (1935).   

Moreover, the OCCA was simply wrong to assert 
that defense counsel could have corrected Sneed’s false 
testimony after the State failed to do so.  Although the 
defense knew or should have known “that Sneed was 
taking lithium,” JA991, the State had suppressed the 
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evidence showing that the lithium had been prescribed 
by a psychiatrist for a serious mental-health disorder, 
supra pp. 9-10.  The defense thus had no factual basis to 
correct Sneed’s false testimony denying psychiatric 
treatment or his false assurances that the lithium had 
been prescribed for a cold or by mistake.  Given the 
State’s conceded failure to disclose this information, the 
OCCA’s ruling imposes the very kind of “prosecutor 
may hide, defendant must seek” rule that this Court has 
soundly rejected.  Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 696 
(2004). 

Third, the OCCA summarily concluded that Sneed’s 
false testimony was not material because “[t]his known 
mental health treatment evidence does not create a rea-
sonable probability that the result of the proceeding 
would have been different” had Sneed’s “use of lithium 
been further developed at trial.”  JA991-992.  That anal-
ysis is obviously wrong:  Far from being “known,” the 
relevant evidence had been suppressed for nearly 20 
years, see supra pp. 9-10.  And it asks the wrong ques-
tion: Under Napue, the constitutional harm is not just 
that the defense is impeded from “further develop[ing]” 
a line of inquiry, JA992, but that the prosecution ob-
tained a conviction by letting the jury be misled by false 
testimony.  In any event, the OCCA’s reasoning is incon-
sistent with this Court’s precedents on the importance 
of effective impeachment—even when (unlike here) 
other direct inculpatory evidence is left untouched by 
the impeachment.  See Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 
445 (1995) (“[T]he effective impeachment of one eyewit-
ness can call for a new trial even though the attack does 
not extend directly to others[.]”).  Here, as in Napue, 
“[t]he jury’s estimate of the truthfulness and reliability 
of a given witness” was likely “determinative of guilt or 
innocence.”  360 U.S. at 269.   
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Had the prosecution corrected Sneed’s false testi-
mony, the jury would have learned of the serious mental-
health issues affecting Sneed at the time of the murder 
and his interrogation, which would reasonably have led 
the jury to doubt the accuracy and truthfulness of his in-
culpatory testimony.  Just as importantly, the jury 
would have learned of Sneed’s untrustworthiness on the 
stand, which reasonably would—and certainly “could,” 
Napue, 360 U.S. at 271—have led them to doubt the en-
tirety of his testimony.  Because the State could not have 
convicted Glossip without Sneed’s testimony, that is 
more than enough to “undermine confidence” in Glos-
sip’s conviction and warrant a new trial.  Smith v. Cain, 
565 U.S. 73, 76 (2012); see also Banks, 540 U.S. at 698-
699; Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434-435. 

II. THE STATE’S SUPPRESSION OF EXCULPATORY EVI-

DENCE VIOLATED BRADY  

Suppressing the evidence of Sneed’s psychiatric 
treatment also violated Brady.  To protect “[t]he very 
integrity of the judicial system and public confidence in 
the system,” Nixon, 418 U.S. at 709, due process re-
quires that prosecutors disclose all evidence that is “fa-
vorable to an accused” and “material either to guilt or to 
punishment.”  Brady, 373 U.S. at 87.  The State flouted 
this foundational duty.   

A. Suppression Of Evidence Concerning Sneed’s 
Psychiatric Treatment Violated Brady 

As revealed in the 2023 disclosure of Box 8, Sneed 
told Smothermon before Glossip’s second trial that he 
was “on lithium” under the care of a “Dr. Trumpet.”  
JA927, 929; supra pp. 9-10.  There is no dispute that “Dr. 
Trumpet” meant Dr. Trombka—at the time the only 
psychiatrist treating patients at the Oklahoma County 
Jail.   
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That evidence was favorable to Glossip and should 
have been disclosed.  Prosecutors’ Brady obligations ex-
tend to material impeachment evidence.  See Bagley, 473 
U.S. at 676 (“Impeachment evidence … falls within the 
Brady rule.” (citing Giglio, 405 U.S. at 154)).  Evidence 
is material for Brady purposes when it “could reasona-
bly be taken to put the whole case in such a different 
light as to undermine confidence in the verdict”—that is, 
when there is a “reasonable probability of a different re-
sult.”  Banks, 540 U.S. at 698-699 (quotation marks omit-
ted).  As with exculpatory evidence, the failure to dis-
close impeachment evidence is material when the “relia-
bility of a given witness may well be determinative of 
guilt or innocence.”  Giglio, 405 U.S. at 154; see also 
Banks, 540 U.S. at 701; Kyles, 514 U.S. at 450-451 (not-
ing “favorable tendency” of impeachment evidence). 

That standard is well met here.  In Williams v. Tay-
lor, 529 U.S. 420 (2000), this Court recognized that the 
suppression of a witness’s psychiatric records, if timely 
pursued, can violate Brady.  Id. at 438.  The Court there 
concluded that the transcript of a star witness’s sentenc-
ing proceeding, which contained “repeated references to 
a ‘psychiatric’ or ‘mental health’ report,” “should have 
alerted [state habeas] counsel to a possible Brady claim” 
relating to the psychiatric records.  Id. at 438; accord 
Fuentes v. T. Griffin, 829 F.3d 233, 248 (2d Cir. 2016) 
(discussing Williams and finding “no question that the 
prosecution’s failure to disclose the psychiatric report 
could be a proper basis for a habeas petition under 
Brady”); Browning v. Trammell, 717 F.3d 1092, 1106 
(10th Cir. 2013) (finding it “difficult to see how the Okla-
homa courts could reasonably conclude there was 
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nothing material about a recent diagnosis of a severe 
mental disorder”).6   

The State’s suppression of the psychiatric evidence 
here was material.  As discussed above, disclosure of 
Sneed’s psychiatric treatment would have enabled the 
defense to investigate Sneed’s psychiatric issues and dis-
cover both his bipolar diagnosis and his previous lies on 
the issue.  Supra pp. 10-12.  The defense could also have 
shown the jury that there were serious reasons to doubt 
that Sneed accurately perceived or remembered what 
had happened at the time of the murder and his interro-
gation.  And disclosure would have allowed the defense 
to retain an expert, or call Dr. Trombka as a witness, to 
explain the effects that Sneed’s untreated bipolar disor-
der, in combination with his methamphetamine use, may 
have had on Sneed’s impulsivity and recollection of the 
events surrounding the murder.  Supra pp. 10-12. 

This evidence, in other words, would have given the 
jury strong reason to doubt Sneed’s version of events, 
most of which was otherwise uncorroborated.  That is 
more than enough to establish Brady materiality.     

B. The Net Effect Of Suppressed Evidence Con-
firms That The Brady Violation Denied Glossip 
A Fair Trial 

The entirety of suppressed evidence further con-
firms the reasonable probability that, had the State ful-
filled its Brady obligations, the result of Glossip’s trial 
would have been different.  Under Kyles, materiality for 
Brady purposes must be considered “in terms of 

 
6 In Williams, the Court concluded that the petitioner de-

faulted his claim because at the time of trial, unlike here, petitioner’s 
counsel had access to evidence detailing the nature of the psychiat-
ric issues but failed to act.  529 U.S. at 424.  



34 

 

suppressed evidence considered collectively, not item by 
item.”  514 U.S. at 436.  Kyles requires “a ‘cumulative 
evaluation’ of the materiality of wrongfully withheld ev-
idence.”  Wearry, 577 U.S. at 394.  Brady thus assigns to 
prosecutors “the consequent responsibility to gauge the 
likely net effect of all such evidence and make disclosure 
when the point of ‘reasonable probability’ is reached.”  
Kyles, 514 U.S. at 437.   

The State’s suppression of Sneed’s psychiatric evi-
dence did not occur in isolation.  It was part of an expan-
sive effort unfairly to shore up the testimony of the 
State’s star witness and mask vulnerabilities in the 
State’s theory of the case.  When considered “collec-
tively,” as Kyles requires, the “net effect” of the sup-
pressed evidence confirms that Glossip was denied a fair 
opportunity to defend himself.  Kyles, 514 U.S. at 421-
422, 436-437.   

As an initial matter, under Kyles, the Court should 
consider the relationship between the Napue and Brady 
violations.  By suppressing information regarding 
Sneed’s psychiatric treatment, the prosecution pre-
vented the defense from impeaching Sneed on that basis 
or exploring possible defenses regarding Sneed’s impul-
sivity, perception, and memory.  Then, when the State 
failed to correct Sneed’s false testimony denying any 
psychiatric treatment and downplaying the lithium pre-
scription, the defense was unable to respond.  Because of 
the Brady violation, the defense had no way of knowing 
that Sneed was lying and no way to ensure the jury had 
all information relevant to assessing Sneed’s credibility.     

More broadly, the net effect of all the wrongfully 
withheld evidence raises a reasonable probability that 
compliance with Brady would have yielded a different 
result at trial.  As Kyles held, “the character of a piece 
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of evidence as favorable will often turn on the context of 
the existing or potential evidentiary record.”  514 U.S. 
at 439; see also Bagley, 473 U.S. at 683; Agurs, 427 U.S. 
at 112.  The full record casts the Brady violation in a 
starker light.   

Most notable here is the prosecution’s mid-trial in-
tervention to sway Sneed’s testimony to avoid conflict-
ing with Dr. Choi’s testimony about the knife.  Supra pp. 
12-15.  Smothermon’s memo to Sneed’s attorney, Gina 
Walker—indicating that the State’s “biggest problem 
[was] still the knife” and that they needed to “get to” 
Sneed before he testified—was never disclosed to the 
defense.  JA953, 955-957.  The Smothermon-Ackley 
notes disclosed in Box 8 revealed the State’s grave con-
cern over the “quagmire” posed by the inconsistencies in 
Sneed’s account, shedding light on Smothermon’s inten-
tions in sending the mid-trial memo to Walker.  Supra 
pp. 14-15.  Also suppressed were Walker’s notes inform-
ing Smothermon that Sneed would be changing his 
story.  JA953, 955-957.  That evidence situates the Brady 
violation here as part of a larger campaign by the prose-
cution improperly to protect Sneed’s fragile credibility 
by suppressing key impeachment evidence, letting him 
lie on the stand, and depriving the defense of any oppor-
tunity to reveal his weaknesses—even to the point of co-
ordinating with Sneed’s counsel to influence his testi-
mony and then falsely denying Smothermon’s advance 
knowledge of Sneed’s about-face.  Supra pp. 13-14.   

A collective evaluation of the suppressed evidence 
must also consider evidence that could have undermined 
the State’s reliance on the $1,757 in cash Glossip was car-
rying at the time of his arrest.  Supra pp. 15-16.  To per-
suade the jury that the cash was stolen from Van Treese, 
the State had to exclude the possibility that Glossip re-
ceived the money when he emptied his vending 
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machines and sold them along with his TV, couch, and 
other belongings to raise money for an attorney.  Supra 
p. 15.  Clifford Everhart testified that Glossip had 
earned only $250-300 from selling some of the items, 
claiming he could not recall what Glossip got for any-
thing else.  Supra pp. 15-16.  Everhart’s testimony—and 
the State’s cherry-picked excerpts of Glossip’s prior tes-
timony, see supra n.5—left the impression that most of 
Glossip’s cash was unaccounted for except as the pro-
ceeds of the alleged murder plot.  But the suppressed 
notes from Everhart’s pretrial interview suggested that 
when Everhart told Smothermon what he knew about 
Glossip’s “liquidat[ion]” efforts, he referred to Glossip 
obtaining $900.  JA949, 952.  Had the notes been dis-
closed, the defense could have impeached Everhart with 
his prior inconsistent statements, undermining the 
State’s theory and supporting the innocent explanation 
that Glossip acquired the cash by “liquidat[ing]” his per-
sonal possessions to retain an attorney.  JA949, 952; see 
also JA706; Reed Smith 5th Supp. 19.   

Ignoring Kyles, the OCCA “improperly evaluated 
the materiality of each piece of evidence in isolation ra-
ther than cumulatively.”  Wearry, 577 U.S. at 394.  The 
court reasoned that the “mental health treatment evi-
dence” could not by itself “create a reasonable probabil-
ity that the result of the proceeding would have been dif-
ferent,” JA991, without considering how the rest of the 
suppressed evidence, if “vary[ing] in kind,” all 
“strengthen[ed] the inference” that Sneed’s assertion of 
any link between Glossip and the murder was unreliable 
at best.  Cone v. Bell, 556 U.S. 449, 470 (2009). 

This Court’s materiality analysis in Wearry illus-
trates what the OCCA should have done instead.  There, 
this Court concluded that a key witness’s “credibility, al-
ready impugned by his many inconsistent stories, would 
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have been further diminished” had the jury learned of 
additional holes in his testimony and his incentives to 
“implicate[] Wearry to settle a personal score.”  577 U.S. 
at 393.  Recognizing that each instance of suppression 
cast further doubt on the witness’s reliability, the Court 
confirmed that evaluating the materiality of any single 
instance of prosecutorial misconduct requires consider-
ing the full record.  See id. at 393-394. 

The same is true here.  Had the suppressed evidence 
been disclosed, the defense could have mounted a much 
more fulsome argument that the jury should discredit 
Sneed’s testimony—because he had lied on the stand and 
in prior proceedings; because his psychiatric condition 
made his account unreliable; because he changed his tes-
timony mid-trial at the State’s behest; and because the 
only corroboration of his story was contradicted by 
Everhart’s prior inconsistent statements.  True to 
Kyles, the weight of the suppressed evidence would 
have accumulated, and the Brady violations in this case 
would have been cast in an even more powerful light.  A 
jury that might have forgiven Sneed for being im-
peached once could easily have concluded that repeated 
impeachments showed he was unreliable.   

Absent this Court’s correction, the OCCA’s disre-
gard of Kyles also heralds a powerful incentive for pros-
ecutors to trickle exculpatory evidence just slowly 
enough that a defendant can never present a full-
throated Brady claim.  This case is a perfect example.  
When the State finally disclosed exculpatory evidence 
years after Glossip’s conviction, it did so in multiple 
tranches separated by months—far longer than the 60 
days Glossip had to file a successive application after 
learning of new evidence.  By doing so, the State ensured 
that Glossip could not present all the suppressed evi-
dence at once.  The OCCA’s refusal to consider the 
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evidence collectively aggravated that problem, giving 
prosecutors an incentive to slow-roll their constitutional 
obligations—an outcome that “is not tenable in a system 
constitutionally bound to accord defendants due pro-
cess.”  Banks, 540 U.S. at 696. 

Because the wrongful withholding of evidence of 
Sneed’s psychiatric treatment—worsened by the net ef-
fects of other suppressed evidence—“raises a reasonable 
probability that its disclosure would have produced a dif-
ferent result,” Glossip “is entitled to a new trial.”  Kyles, 
514 U.S. at 421-422. 

III. NO ADEQUATE AND INDEPENDENT STATE-LAW 

GROUND SUPPORTS THE OCCA’S JUDGMENT 

This Court will not review federal questions ad-
dressed in a state-court decision that “rests on a state 
law ground that is independent of the federal question 
and adequate to support the judgment.”  Lee v. Kemna, 
534 U.S. 362, 375 (2002).  That jurisdictional rule poses 
no barrier to review in this case.  While the OCCA re-
cited the limitations of the Oklahoma Post-Conviction 
Procedure Act, Okla. Stat. tit. 22, §1089(D)(8)(b), any 
fair reading of the opinion confirms that this state-law 
ground was neither independent nor adequate.  Any os-
tensible application of §1089(D)(8)(b) followed directly 
from the OCCA’s construction and application of Napue 
and Brady and therefore was not an independent state-
law ground.  And any reliance on the Act’s limitations 
despite the State’s affirmative waiver of those limita-
tions, and the impossibility of asserting the Napue and 
Brady claims before Box 8 was disclosed, was a novel 
and unforeseeable application of state law and thus not 
an adequate state-law ground.    
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A. The OCCA’s Judgment Was Not Independent 
Of Federal Law  

A state-court judgment deciding a federal question 
is presumptively subject to this Court’s review absent a 
“plain statement” that it “rest[s] on an adequate and in-
dependent state ground.”  Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 
1032, 1044 (1983).  By design, this is a high hurdle.  Given 
the “important need for uniformity in federal law” and 
“[r]espect for the independence of state courts,” this 
Court cabins its jurisdictional inquiry to “the four cor-
ners of the opinion” of the state court.  Id. at 1040.     

A telltale sign of dependence on federal law is reli-
ance on federal case law in the state court’s reasoning.  
Long, 463 U.S. at 1041.  A state-court decision that 
“rel[ies] on federal precedents” is not independent of 
federal law unless it clearly states that “the federal cases 
are being used only for the purpose of guidance.”  Id.  
Thus, even when a state court invokes a state-law pro-
cedural bar, the “state-law prong of the court’s holding 
is not independent of federal law” if the court’s “resolu-
tion of the state procedural law question depends on a 
federal constitutional ruling.”  Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 
U.S. 68, 75 (1985).  In that event, “the federal-law hold-
ing is integral to the state court’s disposition of the mat-
ter,” and this Court’s resolution of the federal issue is “in 
no respect advisory.”  Id.; see Three Affiliated Tribes of 
Fort Berthold Rsrv. v. Wold Eng’g, P.C., 467 U.S. 138, 
152 (1984) (Supreme Court “retains a role when a state 
court’s interpretation of state law has been influenced by 
an accompanying interpretation of federal law”).  

In Ake, for example, an indigent capital defendant 
argued that the federal constitution entitled him to psy-
chiatric services to aid his defense.  470 U.S. at 70-73.  In 
addition to denying the claim on the merits, the OCCA 
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held that the defendant had waived his request for a psy-
chiatrist as a matter of state law by failing to reiterate it 
in his motion for a new trial.  Id. at 74.  In this Court, the 
State argued that the waiver holding constituted an ad-
equate and independent state-law ground for the judg-
ment.  Id.  

This Court disagreed.  Under Oklahoma law, the 
waiver rule did not apply to fundamental trial errors, in-
cluding federal constitutional errors.  Ake, 470 U.S. at 
75.  Oklahoma had thus “made application of the proce-
dural bar depend on an antecedent ruling on federal law, 
that is, on the determination of whether federal consti-
tutional error has been committed.”  Id.  Before ruling 
on the state-law waiver issue, the state court had to rule 
“either explicitly or implicitly” on the federal issue.  Id.  
Accordingly, the OCCA’s waiver decision was not inde-
pendent of federal law.      

Much the same was true in Foster v. Chatman, 578 
U.S. 488 (2016).  The post-conviction petitioner there 
raised a Batson claim, but the state habeas court ruled 
the claim was “not reviewable based on the doctrine of 
res judicata” under Georgia law.  Id. at 496.  The court 
then evaluated whether there had been “‘any change in 
the facts sufficient to overcome the res judicata bar.’”  
Id. at 498.  After analyzing a newly uncovered prosecu-
tion file, the court concluded that the petitioner’s re-
newed Batson claim was “‘without merit’” and therefore 
could not displace the res judicata bar.  Id.  

As in Ake, this Court concluded it had jurisdiction to 
review the state court’s judgment.  The Court under-
scored that, in evaluating changed circumstances, the 
state court had “engaged in four pages of what it termed 
a ‘Batson … analysis.’”  Foster, 578 U.S. at 498.  The 
Court thus found it “apparent that the state habeas 
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court’s application of res judicata to [the petitioner’s] 
Batson claim was not independent of the merits of his 
federal constitutional challenge.”  Id.  The state court’s 
Batson analysis was sufficient to support this Court’s ju-
risdiction, even though it was fully incorporated into the 
analysis of res judicata under state law. 

These authorities establish this Court’s jurisdiction 
to review the OCCA’s judgment here.  The OCCA relied 
directly on Brady and Napue, JA989-992, and made no 
“plain statement” that its discussion of those federal 
precedents served “only for the purpose of guidance,” 
rather than to “compel the result that the court … 
reached.”  Long, 463 U.S. at 1041.  To the contrary, the 
OCCA’s opinion makes clear that its ruling depended en-
tirely on its analysis of Glossip’s federal Napue and 
Brady claims.  Although the court began by stating that 
the issue of Sneed’s psychiatric treatment “could have 
been presented previously” and that “the facts [we]re 
not sufficient to establish by clear and convincing evi-
dence that, but for the alleged error, no reasonable fact 
finder would have found [Glossip] guilty”—reciting the 
two-part standard under the state post-conviction relief 
statute, JA990; see Okla. Stat. tit. 22, §1089(D)(8)(b)—
the only support the court offered for those conclusions 
was its rejection of Glossip’s Brady and Napue claims on 
the merits.   

The court first explained that “to establish a Brady 
violation, a defendant must show that the prosecution 
failed to disclose evidence that was favorable to him or 
exculpatory, and that the evidence was material.”  
JA989-990.  But here, the court thought, the prosecution 
had not hidden exculpatory information because Sneed’s 
competency examination already “noted Sneed’s lithium 
prescription” and thus defense counsel already “knew or 
should have known about Sneed’s mental health issues.”  
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JA991.  That was an adjudication of Glossip’s Brady 
claim on the merits.   

The court then explained that the evidence “does not 
create a Napue error” because “[d]efense counsel was 
aware or should have been aware that Sneed was taking 
lithium at the time of trial” and thus “[t]his fact was not 
knowingly concealed by the prosecution.”  JA991.  The 
court further concluded that, because “Sneed was more 
than likely in denial of his mental health disorders,” his 
trial testimony was “not clearly false.”  Id.  This was an 
adjudication of Glossip’s Napue claim on the merits. 

Moreover, the court went on to hold that “this evi-
dence is not material under the law,” for purposes of 
both Brady and Napue, because Sneed’s “known mental 
health treatment evidence does not create a reasonable 
probability that the result of the proceeding would have 
been different had Sneed’s testimony regarding his use 
of lithium been further developed at trial.”  JA991-992.  
That is the materiality standard of Brady and Napue.  
See, e.g., Bagley, 473 U.S. at 682 (under Brady, evidence 
is material “if there is a reasonable probability that, had 
the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of 
the proceeding would have been different”); Giglio, 405 
U.S. at 154 (under Napue, evidence is material  “if the 
false testimony could in any reasonable likelihood have 
affected the judgment of the jury” (quotation marks and 
alterations omitted)).  Oklahoma’s post-conviction relief 
statute has a separate materiality standard, Okla. Stat. 
tit. 22, §1089(D)(8)(b)(2), but after initially reciting it, the 
OCCA never analyzed or applied it, JA987-992. 

The takeaway is inescapable.  The only reason the 
court gave for finding that the “issue could have been 
and should have been raised earlier” under state law was 
that “Sneed’s previous evaluation and his trial testimony 
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revealed that he was under the care of [a] doctor who 
prescribed lithium”—i.e., the very reason why there 
purportedly was no misconduct under Brady and Na-
pue.  JA991-992.  And the only reason the court gave for 
finding that “the facts [were] not sufficient to establish 
by clear and convincing evidence that, but for the alleged 
error, no reasonable fact finder would have found the ap-
plicant guilty” under state law was that the “known 
mental health treatment evidence does not create a rea-
sonable probability that the result of the proceeding 
would have been different had Sneed’s testimony re-
garding his use of lithium been further developed at 
trial”—i.e., the very reason why the alleged prosecuto-
rial error was purportedly not material under Brady and 
Napue.  JA991-992.  A state court’s application of state 
law that is “so interwoven with” its federal-law reason-
ing does not defeat this Court’s jurisdiction.  Enterprise 
Irrigation Dist. v. Farmers’ Mut. Canal Co., 243 U.S. 
157, 164 (1917). 

The OCCA’s dismissal of the State’s confession of er-
ror confirms that analysis.  In determining that the con-
cession “c[ould] not overcome the limitations on succes-
sive post-conviction review” as a matter of state law, the 
OCCA stated that the concession was “not based in law 
or fact.”  JA990.  But the only “law or fact” the court pro-
ceeded to discuss was its view that Glossip’s federal con-
stitutional claims lacked merit under this Court’s prece-
dent.  Id. 

The OCCA’s opinion is thus no different from the 
state-court opinions in Ake and Foster.  Because the 
court’s “resolution of the state procedural law question 
depend[ed] on [its] federal constitutional ruling, the 
state-law prong of the court’s holding is not independent 
of federal law.”  Ake, 470 U.S. at 75.   
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B. The OCCA’s Judgment Did Not Rest On An Ad-
equate State-Law Ground 

To the extent the OCCA applied §1089(D)(8)(b)’s 
limitations despite the State’s waiver or held that Glos-
sip defaulted his Napue and Brady claims before he even 
knew, or reasonably could have known, of the salient 
facts underlying those claims, the OCCA’s judgment 
also did not rest on an adequate state-law ground.  There 
is simply no support in Oklahoma law for such a novel 
application of the Oklahoma Post Conviction Procedure 
Act, and it therefore cannot insulate the judgment from 
this Court’s review.  

“The question whether a state procedural ruling is 
adequate is itself a question of federal law.”  Beard v. 
Kindler, 558 U.S. 53, 60 (2009).  A state procedural rule 
that is “firmly established and regularly followed” gen-
erally forecloses review of a federal claim.  Id.  Yet 
“[n]ovelty in procedural requirements cannot be permit-
ted to thwart review in this Court applied for by those 
who, in justified reliance upon prior decisions, seek vin-
dication in state courts of their federal constitutional 
rights.”  NAACP v. Alabama ex rel. Patterson, 357 U.S. 
449, 457-458 (1958).  Thus, “an unforeseeable and unsup-
ported state-court decision on a question of state proce-
dure does not constitute an adequate ground to preclude 
this Court’s review of a federal question.”  Bouie v. City 
of Columbia, 378 U.S. 347, 354 (1964); see also, e.g., Ford 
v. Georgia, 498 U.S. 411, 425 (1991) (state procedural rule 
that was not “firmly established at the time [of] ques-
tion … cannot bar federal judicial review”); Johnson v. 
Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578, 588-589 (1988) (state proce-
dure rule that was not “consistently or regularly ap-
plied” was not an “adequate and independent state 
ground”).   



45 

 

Last Term, this Court applied this rule to reject as 
inadequate a state-law procedural ruling in Cruz v. Ari-
zona, another post-conviction case.  598 U.S. 17 (2023).  
There, the petitioner sought to vacate his capital sen-
tence under Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154 
(1994), because the jury that sentenced him had not been 
informed that a life sentence in Arizona would be with-
out parole.  Cruz, 598 U.S. at 21-22.  Although the Ari-
zona Supreme Court had held that “Arizona’s sentencing 
and parole scheme did not trigger application of Sim-
mons,” this Court disagreed in Lynch v. Arizona, 578 
U.S. 613 (2016), making clear that Simmons applies in 
Arizona.  Cruz, 598 U.S. at 20. 

The petitioner in Cruz sought post-conviction relief 
based on Lynch.  598 U.S. at 20.  The Arizona Supreme 
Court rejected his motion under a state procedural rule 
barring successive motions for post-conviction relief ab-
sent a “significant change in the law.”  Id. (citing Ariz. R. 
Crim. Proc. 32.1(g)).  The court determined that Lynch 
was not a significant change in the law because “the law 
relied upon by the Supreme Court in [Lynch]—Sim-
mons—was clearly established at the time of Cruz’s trial 
… despite the misapplication of that law by the Arizona 
courts.”  Id. at 25.   

Although the Arizona Supreme Court’s decision 
rested exclusively on a state-law procedural require-
ment, this Court held that it could exercise jurisdiction 
over the judgment.  Cruz, 598 U.S. at 32.  The Court con-
cluded that the state court’s interpretation and applica-
tion of the Arizona procedural requirement could not 
constitute an adequate state-law ground for the judg-
ment because that ruling was “novel and unforeseeable” 
and “lack[ed] fair or substantial support in prior state 
law.”  Id.; see id. at 27 (state-law ground was “entirely 
new and in conflict with prior Arizona case law”). 
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The same is true here.  As explained above, the 
OCCA did not rest on any state-law ground independent 
of its adjudication of the federal claims on their merits.  
But had it done so, the court’s ruling plainly would have 
been inadequate to deprive this Court of jurisdiction.  
The OCCA’s application of §1089(D)(8)(b) was “novel 
and unforeseeable” in two ways, each sufficient to ren-
der the judgment inadequate.   

First, the OCCA’s conclusion that §1089(D)(8)(b)’s 
diligence and materiality limitations could not be waived 
by the State contravened its own precedent.  In respond-
ing to Glossip’s application, the State waived reliance on 
the Oklahoma Post-Conviction Procedure Act, instead 
arguing that its limitations were satisfied.  JA976.  The 
OCCA, however, refused to accept this waiver, stating 
that its review was “limited by the legislatively enacted 
Post-Conviction Procedure Act” and that the “Attorney 
General’s ‘concession’” changed nothing.  JA981-982.  

This holding—that §1089(D)(8)(b) is effectively a ju-
risdictional requirement that cannot be waived—vio-
lated established state law.  Generally, a State is “obli-
gated to raise procedural default as a defense, or lose the 
right to assert the defense thereafter.”  Gray v. Nether-
land, 518 U.S. 152, 166 (1996).  The same is true under 
Oklahoma law, as shown by the OCCA’s own opinion in 
McCarty v. State, 114 P.3d 1089 (Okla. Crim. App. 2005).7   

As in this case, the capital petitioner in McCarty 
filed a successive application for post-conviction relief al-
leging due-process violations.  114 P.3d at 1090, 1092.  
Among other things, the petitioner claimed the State 

 
7 The OCCA is Oklahoma’s court of last resort for criminal ap-

peals and thus the authoritative voice on Oklahoma criminal law.  
Okla. Stat. tit. 20, §40. 
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had suppressed documents proving the Oklahoma City 
police chemist had “excluded [the] [p]etitioner as a donor 
of all crime scene hairs” and that her contrary report and 
testimony “were false and materially misleading.”  Id. at 
1091.   

Like here, the OCCA “reiterate[d] the narrow scope 
of review available under the amended Post-Conviction 
Procedure Act,” citing an earlier version of §1089.  
McCarty, 114 P.3d at 1091.  But the State had “expressly 
waived any procedural bars that may arguably apply” to 
the claim.  Id. at 1091 n.7.  Unlike in this case, the OCCA 
accordingly proceeded to adjudicate the claim on the 
merits, ruling for the petitioner and vacating his death 
sentence.  Id. at 1095.  It did so even though the de-
fense—indeed, the “entire legal community”—had been 
“on notice” of problems with the police chemist’s report 
at the time of trial.  Id. at 1093.  But given the State’s 
waiver, the court declined to apply the Oklahoma Post-
Conviction Procedure Act’s limitations.  Id.  That is pre-
cisely how state law should have applied in Glossip’s 
case.  Indeed, the OCCA has elsewhere recognized that 
the Act’s limitations are subject to equitable exceptions, 
confirming that they are not jurisdictional.  See Valdez 
v. State, 46 P.3d 703, 710-711 (Okla. Crim. App. 2002) (al-
lowing exception to predecessor to §1089(d)(8)(b)(1) 
“when an error complained of has resulted in a miscar-
riage of justice, or constitutes a substantial violation of a 
constitutional or statutory right”).   

Second, the OCCA’s analysis of Glossip’s diligence, 
under §1089(d)(8)(b)(1) defied any reasonable applica-
tion of state law.  In finding that Glossip had slept on his 
rights, the court cited the fact that “Sneed’s previous 
evaluation and his trial testimony revealed” his lithium 
prescription.  JA991.  But Glossip’s Napue and Brady 
claims never rested on the fact that Sneed was taking 
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lithium.  They focused instead on why he was taking lith-
ium—i.e., because he was under the care of a psychiatrist 
who had prescribed it to treat a serious mental-health 
disorder.  Sneed falsely testified that he had been given 
lithium for a cold and that he had “never seen no psychi-
atrist or anything.”  JA312-313.  Smothermon’s inter-
view notes confirmed this was false testimony and she 
knew it.  And the State wrongfully withheld those notes 
until January 2023, in blatant violation of Brady.  Glossip 
had previously sought Sneed’s medical records, but the 
State opposed that request and the OCCA denied it.  
JA621-622, 632.  

The upshot is that—to the extent there is any purely 
state-law rationale for OCCA’s diligence holding—it is 
simply that Glossip should have brought a claim of con-
stitutional error before he knew or could possibly have 
known the salient facts establishing that error.  Need-
less to say, nothing in Oklahoma law supports such a pro-
cedural rule.   

In Davison v. State, 531 P.3d 649 (Okla. Crim. App. 
2023), for example—decided just weeks after the OCCA 
decided this case—the petitioner filed a successive appli-
cation alleging that his capital post-conviction counsel 
had been ineffective.  Id. at 653-654.  “In addition to doc-
uments previously submitted or plainly available at the 
time of the initial post-conviction application,” the appli-
cation relied on “recently obtained reports of two foren-
sic psychological evaluations of Petitioner, as well as 
more recent affidavits from his family members, a legal 
intern, and two defense investigators.”  Id.  Because “the 
factual particulars of initial post-conviction counsel’s 
presentation of claims became reasonably ascertainable 
only after the filing of the initial post-conviction applica-
tion,” the OCCA held that §1089(D)(8)(b)(1)—the same 
diligence limitation at issue here—did not preclude 
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consideration of the claim on the merits.  Id.  That is 
what a proper application of Oklahoma law would have 
looked like in Glossip’s case.   

Indeed, if the Oklahoma Post-Conviction Procedure 
Act mandated the result reached here, such a baseless 
and arbitrary rule would itself violate the federal consti-
tution.  See, e.g., Walker v. Martin, 562 U.S. 307, 321 
(2011) (“[F]ederal courts must carefully examine state 
procedural requirements to ensure that they do not op-
erate to discriminate against claims of federal rights.”); 
Michel v. Louisiana, 350 U.S. 91, 93 (1955) (requiring, as 
a matter of due process, “a reasonable opportunity to 
have the issue as to the claimed [federal constitutional] 
right heard and determined by the State court” (quota-
tion marks omitted)).  But the Court need not go so far 
to decide this case.  The far simpler explanation for the 
judgment below is that the OCCA grievously deviated 
from what the Act actually requires when it adjudicated 
Glossip’s application for post-conviction relief.   

As in Cruz, then, the OCCA’s procedural ruling was 
“entirely new and in conflict with prior [Oklahoma] case 
law,” 598 U.S. at 27, resulting in a “novel and unforesee-
able state-court procedural decision [that] lack[ed] fair 
or substantial support in prior state law,” id. at 32.  Even 
if the OCCA’s judgment were independent of its exten-
sive discussion of Brady and Napue—and it was not—
the judgment remains subject to this Court’s jurisdic-
tion.  
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CONCLUSION 

The OCCA’s judgment should be reversed and a 
new trial granted.  

Respectfully submitted. 
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